#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KORTE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY dba THE KORTE COMPANY, a Missouri corporation,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF NEVADA ON RELATION OF THE BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE NEVADA SYSTEM OF HIGHER EDUCATION, ON BEHALF OF THE UNIVERSITY OF NEVADA, LAS VEGAS, a Constitutional entity of the State of Nevada,

Respondent.

NO. 80736

District Court Electronically Filed Case No. A-17-763262 106 2020 01:03 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

# APPEAL OF DISTRICT COURT ORDER GRANTING MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Leon F. Mead II, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 5719
Sarah Mead Thomas, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 13725
Matthew W. Thomas, Esq.

# I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

#### A. Statement of Relevant Facts

Limited discovery has taken place in this case. In the Order, the Court made the following Findings of Fact, based upon the undisputed facts submitted by Korte and UNLV:

- 1. UNLV and UPA entered into a Project Development Agreement dated May 15, 2015 ("PDA"). Motion for Summary Judgment ("Mot.") at 1JA0107; Opposition to Mot. ("Opp.") at 4JA0386; Declaration of David Frommer ("Frommer Decl.") at 2JA0123, ¶ 4 and Project Development Agreement attached thereto as Exhibit 1 (2JA0126-172).
- 2. The PDA contemplated UNLV purchasing the real property at Maryland Parkway and Cottage Grove (the "Property") and leasing it to

UPA under a long-term lease pursuant to which, UPA, and possibly other third party developers, would "fund, construct, maintain, and operate student housing and certain commercial establishments" on that real property as part of University Park (the "Project"). Mot. at 1JA0107; Opp. at 4JA0386; Frommer Decl. at 2JA0123, ¶ 4, Exhibit 1 (2JA0126-172).

- 3. UNLV purchased the Property, and its ownership interest was recorded with the Clark [C]ounty Recorder's Office on May 29, 2015. UNLV Request for Judicial Notice ("RFJN") at 3JA0302, Exhibit 1 (3JA0305-312); Frommer Decl. at 2JA0123, ¶ 6.
- 4. UNLV and UPA also entered into a Lease Agreement for University Park Phase One (the "Lease") on May 15, 2015, which was recorded against the Property on February 2, 2016. Frommer Decl. at 2JA0123, ¶¶ 7-8, Exhibit 2 (3JA0173-271).
- 5. In order to complete its obligations under the Lease, UPA entered into a written contract with Korte titled, "Cost Plus Agreement Between Owner and Contractor with a Guaranteed Maximum Price" (the "Construction Contract") dated February 5, 2016, whereby UPA hired Korte to act as the general contractor to construct the Project. Declaration of Greg Korte ("Korte Decl.") at 4JA0401, ¶ 2; Mot. at 1JA0108; Korte Second Amended Complaint ("SAC") at 1JA0062, ¶ 8.
- 6. The Construction Contract was entered into after UNLV had recorded its ownership interest in the Project and UPA had recorded its leasehold interest related to the Project. Mot. at 1JA0108.
- 7. UNLV was not a party to the Korte / UPA construction contract.
- 8. Subsequently, a dispute between UPA and Korte arose regarding the work performed under the Construction Contract, which resulted in Korte recording a mechanic's lien against the entire Property on October 9, 2017

in the amount \$20,366,490.22 (the "Mechanics' Lien"). RFJN at Exhibit 2 (3JA0314-315); SAC at ¶ 35 (1JA0070).

- 9. On October 18, 2017, UPA filed a Motion Requesting Court Order to Show Cause Pursuant to NRS 108.2275, seeking a declaration from this court that the underlying Mechanics' Lien recorded by Korte is excessive, frivolous, and made without reasonable cause and praying for release of the same (the "Expungement Action"). Mot. at 1JA0109.
- 10. On January 24, 2018, Korte filed a Complaint seeking foreclosure of the Mechanics' Lien (the "Foreclosure Action"). Mot. at 1JA0109; Complaint ("Comp.") (1JA0001-24). The Expungement Action and Foreclosure Action have subsequently been consolidated into the case at bar. Mot. at 1JA0109.
- 11. Also on January 24, 2018, Korte recorded a first amended mechanics' lien against the Project in the amount of \$8,499,308.66. Mot. at 1JA0109; SAC at 1JA0070-71, ¶ 36.
- 12. Korte recorded a second amended mechanics lien against the Project on May 22, 2018 in the amount of \$3,632,395.21. Mot. at 1JA109; SAC AT 1JA0071, ¶ 37.
- 13. On May 29, 2018, UPA, as principal, and Hartford Fire Insurance Company ("Hartford"), as surety, executed a surety bond in the amount of Five Million Four Hundred and Forty-Eight Thousand Five Hundred Ninety-Two Dollars and Eighty-Two Cents (\$5,448,592.82) for the benefit of Korte (the "Bond"). Mot. at 1JA0109; SAC at 1JA0071, ¶ 38; RFJN at Exhibit 3 (3JA0316-320).
- 14. On October 9, 2018, Korte filed its Second Amended Complaint (the "SAC") that set forth a single cause of action against UNLV for unjust enrichment. The SAC set forth other causes of action against UPA,

Hartford, Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A., as Trustee of the UNLV Student Housing Phase 1 (Las Vegas, NV) Pass Through Trust Under the Pass-Through Trust Agreement and Declaration of Trust ("Wells Fargo"), and Bridgeway Advisors. Mot. at 1JA0109; SAC (1JA0058-82).

- 15. Paragraph 68 of the SAC states "[p]ursuant to NRS 108.2415(6)(a), the surety bond releases the property described in the surety bond from the lien and the surety bond is deemed to replace the property as security for the lien." SAC at 1JA0077, ¶ 68.
- 16. On December 11, 2018, Korte recorded its Third Amended Notice of Lien against the Project, reducing the amount of its mechanic's lien to \$2,899,988.72 (the "Amended Lien.") Mot. at 1JA0109; RFJN at Exhibit 4 (3JA0321-323).

Order Granting UNLV Motion for Summary Judgment and UPA1, LLC's Joinder Thereto, Findings of Fact, and Conclusions of Law ("Order") at 6JA0497-498, ¶¶ 1-15; see also, internal citations above for additional citations to record.

# **B.** Procedural History / Statement of Case

UNLV filed its Motion for Summary Judgment ("Motion") as to Korte's Unjust Enrichment claim on August 1, 2019. Mot. (1JA0104-121). In the Motion, UNLV alleged that Korte's unjust enrichment claim needed to be adjudicated in its favor because: (1) Korte has a contract with UPA; (2) Korte has a claim upon the mechanic's lien release bond recorded by UPA on the Property; (3) Korte had actual knowledge of UNLV's ownership, which precludes an unjust enrichment claim in this situation according to certain case law from outside -this jurisdiction; and (4) UNLV did not receive a benefit from Korte's work because UPA hired a replacement contractor to finish the Project. *See* Mot. (1JA0104-121). UPA filed a limited joinder to the Motion ("Joinder"), joining in the

Mead Law Group LLP 7201 W Lake Mead Blvd. Suite 550 Las Vegas, NV 89128 T. 702 745-4800 F. 702.745.4805 argument that Korte had actual knowledge of UNLV's ownership. *See* UPA Joinder (3JA0346-383).

Korte opposed the Motion and Joinder, citing to Nevada precedent onpoint: Leasepartners Corp. v. Robert L. Brooks Trust Dated Nov. 12, 1975, 113

Nev. 747, 942 P.2d 182, 187 (1997), as well as cases since which have cited this precedent, including, In re Amerco Derivative Litig., 252 P.3d 681 (Nev. 2011) and West Charleston Lofts I, LLC v. R & O Constr. Co., 915 F. Supp. 2d 1191 (D. Nev. 2013). Opp. (4JA0384-399). Korte also pointed out that the cases cited by UNLV in support of its position were from neighboring jurisdictions and therefore not binding upon the Eighth Judicial District Court. See id. Moreover, Korte argued that Nevada would not adopt the positions taken in the non-binding case law cited by UNLV because it is against Nevada's public policy favoring "contractors' right to secure payment." Leher McGovern Bovis, Inc. v. Bullock Insulation, Inc., 124 Nev. 1102, 1116, 197 P.3d 1032, 1041 (2008); e.g., In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 53, 289 P.3d 1199, 1212 (2012); Cashman Equipment Co. v. West Edna Assocs., Ltd., 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 69, 380 P.3d 844, 848 (2016). See id.

In the Order, the district court made the following conclusions of law:

- 1. "The phrase 'unjust enrichment' is used in law to characterize the result or effect of a failure to make restitution of, or for, property or benefits received under such circumstances as to give rise to a legal or equitable obligation to account therefor." 66 Am. Jur. 2d Restitution § 3 (1973).
- 2. "Unjust enrichment exists where the plaintiff confers a benefit on the defendant, the defendant appreciates such benefit, and there is 'acceptance and retention by the defendant of each benefit under circumstances that it would be inequitable for him to retain the benefit without payment of the value thereof." *Certified Fire Prot., Inc. v.*

- Precision Constr., 128 Nev. 371, 381, 283 P.3d 250, 257 (citing Unionamerica Mtg. v. McDonald, 97 Nev. 210, 212, 626 P.2d 1272, 1273 (1981) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting Dass v. Epplen, 162 Colo. 60, 424 P.2d 779, 780 (1967)).
- 3. It is generally accepted that "unjust enrichment is not available when there is an express, written contract ...." Leasepartners Corp. v. Robert L. Brooks Trust Dated Nov. 12, 1975, 113 Nev. 747, 942 P.2d 182, 187 (1997) (citing 66 Am. Jur. 2d Restitution § 6 (1973) (stating that, generally, an action based on a theory of unjust enrichment is not available when there is an express, written contract, because no agreement can be implied when there is an express agreement)); Crockett & Myers, Ltd. v. Napier, Fitzgerald & Kirby, LLP, 440 F. Supp. 2d 1184, 1197 (D. Nev. 2006), aff'd, 583 F.3d 1232 (9th Cir. 2009) (holding that claim for unjust enrichment was barred because there was an express, written contract); Wilson v. Stratosphere Corp., 371 F. App'x 810, 811-12 (9th Cir. 2010).
- 4. Instead, "[t]he doctrine of unjust enrichment or recovery in quasi contract applies to situations where there is no legal contract but where the person sought to be charged is in possession of money or property which in good conscience and justice he should not retain but should deliver to another [or should pay for]." 66 Am. Jur. 2d Restitution § 11 (1973); see Lipshie v. Tracy Investment Co., 93 Nev. 370, 379, 566 P.2d 819, 824 (1977) ("To permit recovery by quasi-contract where a written agreement exists would constitute a subversion of contractual principles.")
- 5. The Construction Contract is an express, written contract [that] exists between Korte and UPA, which is the subject of the dispute.

- 6. The work and services for which Korte is alleging it is entitled to payment are subject to the Construction Contract.
- 7. Korte's claim for unjust enrichment is barred given that the contract at issue is between Korte and UPA.
- 8. Korte's claim of unjust enrichment is barred given that the Bond posted by UPA exceeds the amount claimed by Korte for its services.
- 9. The Bond provides Korte an adequate remedy at law.
- 10. The Court directs entry of final judgment as to UNLV, as judgment in its favor on Korte's unjust enrichment claim leaves no other claim against or made by UNLV in this action.
- 11. The Court finds there is no just reason for delay in entering this Order. Order at 6JA0498-500, ¶¶ 1-11. The Court made no determination on UNLV's argument that Korte's actual knowledge of UNLV's ownership of the property prevented its unjust enrichment claim or that it has not actually benefitted from Korte's work because UPA is challenging the quality of that work in the underlying litigation. *See id*.

#### II. ARGUMENT

#### A. Legal Standard

The standard for review of a lower court's order granting summary judgment is de novo. *E.g.*, *Nicholas v. State*, 116 Nev. 40, 43, 992 P.2d 262, 264 (2000); *Maine v. Stewart*, 109 Nev. 721, 726, 857 P.2d 755, 758 (1993); *Walker v. American Bankers Ins.*, 108 Nev. 533, 836 P.2d 59, 61 (1992). In other words, the Court must conduct its review "without deference to the findings of the district court." *Maine*, 109 Nev. at 726, 857 P.2d at 758.

In reviewing the record and the relevant case law, this Court should reverse the district court's Order, as UNLV is not entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law on Korte's unjust enrichment claim.

# B. The District Court's Order Granting UNLV's Motion is Against Relevant Established Nevada Precedent.

The district court's Order was decided contrary to Nevada precedent. We need not look beyond the law of Nevada to decide whether the unjust enrichment claim against UNLV is sound. "Under Nevada law, unjust enrichment occurs whenever a person has and retains a benefit which in equity and good conscience belongs to another." West Charleston Lofts I, LLC v. R & O Constr. Co., 915 F. Supp. 2d 1191, 1195-95 (quoting In re Amerco Derivative Litig., 252 P.3d 681, 703 (Nev. 2011) and citing Leasepartners Corp. v. Robert L. Brooks Trust Dated Nov. 12, 1975, 113 Nev. 747, 942 P.2d 182, 187 (1997)) (internal quotations omitted)).

The essential elements of quasi contract are a benefit conferred on the defendant by the plaintiff, appreciation by the defendant of such benefit, and acceptance and retention by the defendant of such benefit under circumstances such that it would be inequitable for him to retain the benefit without payment of the value thereof.

Leasepartners Corp., 113 Nev. at 755, 942 P.2d at 187 (quoting Unionamerica Mtg. v. McDonald, 97 Nev. 210, 212, 626 P.2d 1272, 1273 (1981)) (internal quotations omitted)).

The doctrine of unjust enrichment or recovery in quasi contract applies to situations where there is no legal contract but where the person sought to be charged is in possession of money or property which in good conscience and justice he should not retain but should deliver to another or should pay for.

Leasepartners Corp., 113 Nev. at 756, 942 P.2d at 187 (internal citations omitted).

Leasepartners clearly demonstrates that UNLV is not entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. In Leasepartners, the Nevada Supreme Court analyzed whether an assignee of a contractor's interest could recover under unjust enrichment from an owner of property. Notably, and exactly like the instant appeal, in that case the contractor had no contract with the defendant owner. Rather, the contractor only had a contract with the owner's tenant. See

Leasepartners Corp., 113 Nev. 747, 942 P.2d 182 (1997). The defendant owner challenged the unjust enrichment claim made by the plaintiff contractor due to the fact that there was a written contract between the tenant and the contractor that governed the work at issue and payment therefor. Id. The Court held that because "a written contract existed between [the owner] and [the lessee] and a written contract existed between [the lessee] and [the contractor]," but no contract existed between the owner and the contractor, the contractor's unjust enrichment claim was not barred. Id. at 756, 187; see also U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. BDJ Investments, LLC, 2019 WL 1546930 (D. Nev. April 8, 2019) (holding that an unjust enrichment claim is not barred against a defendant where the plaintiff and defendant do not have a contract).

The Court in *Leasepartners* also held that, even though the owner was not initially aware of the improvements, and did not want the benefits of the improvements, the assignee of the contractor's rights could still make a claim for unjust enrichment because there was a question of fact as to whether a benefit was actually conferred upon the owner. *Id*.

The Leasepartners case is directly applicable to and controlling in this case. The actual Leasepartners holdings are important here. First, if an owner is conferred a benefit by the contractor's improvements made under a contract with the tenant, unjust enrichment lies. Second, summary judgment is not appropriate where there is conflicting evidence about whether an owner actually received a benefit from work performed by a contractor pursuant to an agreement between a contractor and a tenant. As explained herein, this is the case here. Korte has a contract with UPA, the tenant, and not with UNLV, the owner. Leasepartners is clear that the existence of a contract between a tenant and a contractor does not preclude a contractor from asserting an unjust enrichment claim against the

Mead Law Group LLP 7201 W Lake Mead Blvd. Suite 550 Las Vegas, NV 89128 T. 702 745-4800 F. 702.745.4805 property owner. Indeed, this is consistent with Nevada public policy and case law favoring contractors' right to secure payment.<sup>1</sup>

Suppose UPA is successful in raising a technical defense that prevents Korte from recovering the full measure of damages under its breach of contract claim against UPA, and yet at the same time it shown that UNLV is conferred a benefit from Korte's work which should be recognized by the payment of fair compensation to Korte. Under these circumstances, the contract claim may not afford an adequate remedy—contrary to the apparent reasoning adopted by the district court.

Here, the trial court held that Korte was unable to maintain an unjust enrichment claim because a contract exists between Korte and UPA, which according to the court provides a vehicle for relief. Order at 7. Notwithstanding, the possibility of relief vis-à-vis UPA, the *Leasepartners* case is controlling here. The district court incorrectly concluded that "Korte's claim for unjust enrichment is barred given that the contract at issue is between Korte and UPA." Payment for the full value of the benefit rendered is ensured by permitting the unjust enrichment claim by the tenant's contractor vis-à-vis the owner, as in *Leasepartners*.

///

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Nevada Supreme Court has repeated this maxim: "Nevada public policy favors contractors' right to secure payment." *Lehrer McGovern Bovis, Inc. v. Bullock Insulatio, Inc.*, 124 Nev. 1102, 1116, 197 P.3d 1032, 1041 (2008); *see e.g., In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 53, 289 P.3d 1199, 1212 (2012); *Cashman Equipment Co. v. West Edna Assocs., Ltd.*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 69, 380 P.3d 844, 848 (2016). Underlying this public policy is "the notion that contractors are generally in a vulnerable position because they extend large blocks of credit; invest significant time, labor, and materials into a project, and have any number of workers vitally depend upon them for eventual payment." *Lehrer McGovern*, 124 Nev. at 1116, 197 P.3d at 1041. As such, Nevada law governing contractors and their rights to payment is different from that of other jurisdictions. There is no Nevada law stating or even suggesting that an owner must engage in improper conduct to be liable for a tenant's failure to pay for construction improvements. Indeed, a contention that Nevada would impose such a requirement is contrary to Nevada public policy and existing law on the subject

# C. Korte's Knowledge of UNLV's Ownership is Irrelevant to its Unjust Enrichment Claim.

The district court did not address whether Korte's knowledge made the Leasepartners case inapplicable here. See generally Order (6JA0495-504). Korte submits that, should this Court wish to consider that point, the fact that the contractor in Leasepartners lacked knowledge that the party with which it had a contract was not the true owner until the contract was breached was not a deciding factor in the Court's decision to uphold the contractor's unjust enrichment claim. Conspicuous by its omission, this fact is mentioned nowhere in the section of the opinion analyzing the validity of Leasepartners' unjust enrichment claim against the property owner. See Leasepartners Corp., 113 Nev. at 753-756. A random fact from the case which is not expressed as playing a role in the Court's analysis regarding the unjust enrichment claim cannot support the theory that Korte *must* have had no knowledge of UNLV's ownership of the Project Property to maintain its unjust enrichment claim. One thing does not necessarily have anything to do with the other. Indeed, neither UNLV, nor the district court cited to precedent which actually states that the contractor's awareness of the true owner of property precludes an unjust enrichment claim by a contractor in the tenant improvement context. This is because no such binding precedent exists - nor would it exist, as such a finding would be contrary to Nevada public policy favoring a contractor's right to secure payment. See Section B, *supra*, n. 1.

# D. Korte's Unjust Enrichment Claim is in the Alternative to its Claim Upon the Mechanic's Lien Release Bond Posted by UPA, and Therefore was Prematurely Adjudicated in UNLV's Favor.

The district court also held that Korte was not entitled to its unjust enrichment claim because "the [mechanic's lien release] Bond posted by UPA exceeds the amount claimed by Korte for its services [and] [t]he Bond provides an adequate remedy at law." Order at 6JA0499, ¶¶ 8-9. UNLV's argument that

Korte's unjust enrichment claim is precluded by the presence of the mechanic's lien release bond recorded upon the property by UPA and Hartford Fire Insurance Company apparently was one of equity. UNLV cited to no legal authority in support of this theory. Rather, UNLV claimed that since the bond is in place, Korte should be precluded from asserting an unjust enrichment claim against UNLV because Korte should not be allowed to get double damages.

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