## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KORTE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, D/B/A THE KORTE COMPANY, A MISSOURI CORPORATION, Appellant, vs.	SUPREME COURT NO. 80736 Electronically File Sep 22 2020 08:5 Elizabeth A. Brow District Court Clerk of Supreme Case No. A-17-763262-B	3 a.m. m
STATE OF NEVADA ON RELATION OF THE BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE NEVADA SYSTEM OF HIGHER EDUCATION, ON BEHALF OF THE UNIVERSITY OF NEVADA, LAS VEGAS, A CONSTITUTIONAL ENTITY OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, Respondent.	RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF	

## APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable TIMOTHY WILLIAMS, District Judge District Court Case No. A-17-763262-B

\*\*\*\*\*

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

At its core, the underlying litigation is a dispute between UPA and Korte, the subject matter of which is controlled by the Construction Contract. Korte's only claimed basis for its unjust enrichment claim against UNLV is that UNLV owned the Property upon which Korte completed its work as contemplated by the Construction Contract, and for which Korte was allegedly not paid by UPA as contemplated by the Construction Contract. As such, the District Court held that Korte's claim against UNLV was barred as a matter of law because the work and services for which Korte sought payment are subject to the Construction Contract, and independently, because the Bond posted by UPA provided Korte complete relief in the event that Korte prevails.

On appeal, Korte raises two principal arguments: (1) that the District Court acted in contravention of Nevada precedent, specifically *Leasepartners*, in holding that the Construction Contract barred Korte's unjust enrichment claim, AOB 9-12, 14-15; and (2) that the District Court erred in holding that the Bond posted by UPA barred Korte's unjust enrichment claim. *Id.* at 12-14. Korte's arguments lack merit, and the District Court's ruling should be upheld.

With respect to Korte's first argument, Korte grossly overstates the holding in *Leasepartners*. The only relevant conclusion for which *Leasepartners* stands is that the existence of a contract with a party other than the defendant does not *automatically* bar an unjust enrichment claim. In overextending the *Leasepartners* holding in an attempt to apply it to the facts of this case, Korte disregards other Nevada precedent, the significant differences between this case and *Leasepartners* which render the *Leasepartners* outcome inapplicable to this case, and other

applicable persuasive authorities and policy considerations. The District Court did not contravene *Leasepartners* in any way, and the undisputed facts and applicable law fully support the District Court's ruling.

Korte's second argument is similarly meritless. Nevada precedent and other authorities make clear that when the Bond was posted, which guarantees Korte's recovery if it prevails, the Bond then provides Korte with a far more-than-adequate legal remedy, and provides an independent basis to preclude Korte's unjust enrichment claim against UNLV. Korte's unproven supposition that this remedy at law may be inadequate is wholly insufficient to permit Korte's unjust enrichment claim to proceed.

Accordingly, UNLV respectfully submits that the District Court's decision should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

#### 1. Standard of review.

A district court's decision to grant summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *Paulos v. FCH1, LLC*, 136 Nev. 18, 22, 456 P.3d 589, 593 (2020). While "[a]ll evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party," "[t]o withstand summary judgment, the nonmoving party cannot rely solely on general allegations and conclusions set forth in the pleadings, but must instead present specific facts demonstrating the existence of a genuine factual issue supporting the claims." *Id*.

## 2. <u>The District Court did not err in concluding that the Construction</u> <u>Contract precluded Korte's unjust enrichment claim against UNLV.</u>

Nevada law is clear that "[a]n action based on a theory of unjust enrichment is not available when there is an express, written contract, because no agreement can be implied when there is an express agreement." Leasepartners, 113 Nev. at 755-756, 942 P.2d at 187 (citing 66 Am.Jur.2d Restitution § 6 (1973)). Indeed, "[t]o permit recovery by quasi-contract where a written agreement exists would constitute a subversion of contractual principles." Lipshie v. Tracy Investment Co., 93 Nev. 370, 379, 566 P.2d 819, 824 (1977). Korte does not dispute these well-established principles of law. Nor does Korte dispute that the Construction Contract is a valid contract between Korte and UPA that governs the terms of payment and services to be provided by Korte in connection with the Project, and that contract forms the basis for the relief Korte seeks in the underlying action. See, e.g., AOB 3 ¶¶ 5, 8. Indeed, Korte's only apparent basis for unjust enrichment is that UNLV allegedly benefitted from the work that Korte allegedly performed as required by the Construction Contract, but purportedly was not paid for by UPA as required by the Construction Contract. See generally AOB.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Korte claims that, because UNLV was not party to the Construction Contract, Korte may then maintain a claim for unjust

enrichment against UNLV, and that the District Court erred in concluding otherwise. In so arguing, Korte purports to rely upon Leasepartners, a Nevada case, to make two unwarranted overgeneralizations: (1) that *Leasepartners* holds that "if an owner is conferred a benefit by the contractor's improvements made under a contract with the tenant, unjust enrichment lies," and similarly that "Leasepartners is clear that the existence of a contract between a tenant and a contractor does not preclude a contractor from asserting an unjust enrichment claim against the property owner"; and (2) that under Leasepartners, "summary judgment is not appropriate where there is conflicting evidence about whether an owner actually received a benefit from the work performed by a contractor pursuant to an agreement between a contractor and a tenant." AOB 10-11 (emphasis in original). Thus, Korte claims that the District Court acted in contravention of *Leasepartners* in holding that under the facts of this case, the Construction Contract barred Korte's unjust enrichment claim against UNLV. See id.

Korte grossly overstates the scope of *Leasepartners*. The only conclusion for which *Leasepartners* stands is that the existence of a contract with a different party does not *automatically* bar an unjust enrichment claim. In overextending the *Leasepartners* holding to attempt to apply it to the facts of this case, Korte disregards other Nevada precedent, the significant differences between this case and *Leasepartners*, and applicable persuasive authorities and policy considerations. Each will be addressed herein.

#### a. Korte's arguments are belied by Nevada precedent.

First, Korte's sweeping statements are belied by Nevada precedent. *See, e.g., Nevada National Bank v. Snyder*, 108 Nev. 151, 826 P.2d 560 (1992) *abrogated on other grounds by Executive Management, Ltd. v. Ticor Title Insurance Company,* 118 Nev. 46, 50 n.8, 38 P.3d 872, 874-75 n.8 (2002); *Bowyer v. Davidson,* 94 Nev. 718, 584 P.2d 686 (1978).

In *Snyder*, a bank loaned money to a borrower to purchase real property that the borrower intended to develop. 108 Nev. at 153, 826 P.2d at 561. The loan was secured by a deed of trust against the property, which the bank recorded. *Id*. The borrower had already hired an engineering firm, who, in turn, retained an architect, and both had performed planning and studies on the property. *Id*. The engineering firm and architect subsequently recorded mechanic's liens. *Id*. The borrower eventually went bankrupt still owing the engineering firm and architect money, and the bank non-judicially foreclosed on its deed. *Id*. At trial, the district court found, among other things, that the bank was personally liable to the engineering firm and architect for any deficiency in the mechanic's liens not covered by a sale of the property. *Id*. at 157, 826 P.2d at 563. The bank appealed.

This Court reversed. In pertinent part, this Court rejected the arguments by the engineering firm and architect that "the Bank was unjustly enriched, because the work they performed increased the value of the property, and the Bank should be held personally liable for any deficiency," and that "the Bank relied on their work to increase the value of the land and therefore the principle of unjust enrichment is applicable." *Id.* This Court concluded that "**[w]hile there was a benefit conferred on the Bank**, it does not rise to unjust enrichment." *Id.* (emphasis added). Indeed, "[a]ny prudent lender evaluates a loan and hopes that the land will increase in value. There is simply no basis in this case to find that the Bank was unjustly enriched by the work [the engineering firm and architect] performed on the [property], **pursuant to their contract** with [the borrower]." *Id.* at 158, 826 P.2d at 564 (emphasis added).

*Snyder* contradicts Korte's sweeping assertion that "if an owner is conferred a benefit by the contractor's improvements made under a contract with the tenant, unjust enrichment lies." AOB 10. In *Snyder*, this Court held that even though there was a benefit conferred upon the bank,<sup>4</sup> there was no basis to find that the bank was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>While the bank in *Snyder* was a lender who then foreclosed on its deed of trust, such a distinction, if any, is not meaningful for purposes of the issues presented in this appeal. Indeed, this Court in *Snyder* found that the land increased in value— as any lender evaluating a loan would hope that it would—and therefore there was a benefit conferred on the bank, but that it was insufficient to constitute unjust enrichment. *Snyder*, 108 Nev. at 158, 826 P.2d at 564. Similarly, Korte's argument here is that there was a benefit conferred on UNLV because the Property allegedly increased in value. AOB 14-15.

unjustly enriched by the work performed on the property "**pursuant to [the] contract**" with the borrower. 108 Nev. at 158, 826 P.2d at 564 (emphasis added). Applied here, *Snyder* supports the District Court's holding that there was no basis to find that UNLV was unjustly enriched by Korte's work performed on the property pursuant to Korte's contract with UPA. 6 JA 499.

Further, *Snyder* directly contradicts Korte's claim that "summary judgment is not appropriate where there is conflicting evidence about whether an owner actually received a benefit from the work performed by a contractor pursuant to an agreement between a contractor and a tenant." AOB 11. In *Snyder*, this Court expressly concluded that "there was a benefit conferred on the Bank," but that it did not rise to unjust enrichment. 108 Nev. at 158, 826 P.2d at 564. Indeed, this Court opined that "[a]ny prudent lender evaluates a loan and hopes that the land will increase in value." *Id.* If, as in *Snyder*, no unjust enrichment exists even where it is established that a benefit was conferred, then the alleged existence of "conflicting evidence about whether an owner actually received a benefit" clearly does not pose an automatic bar to summary judgment, as Korte claims.

In *Bowyer*, a case which will be discussed in greater detail *infra*, a subcontractor who did work on a construction project brought an action against the general contractor and the owners to recover for unpaid labor and materials. 94 Nev. at 719, 584 P.2d at 686-87. During the lawsuit, the district court entered summary

judgment in favor of the owners and dismissed the complaint as to them, with prejudice. *Id*. The district court subsequently entered a judgment against the contractor, but because the contractor was no longer doing business, the judgment remained unsatisfied. *Id*. at 719-20, 584 P.2d at 687. The subcontractor appealed from the grant of summary judgment in favor of the owners.

On appeal, this Court affirmed. Pertinent to the present appeal, this Court held, *inter alia*, that there was no genuine issue that the respondent owners were not unjustly enriched at the subcontractor's expense. *Id.* at 720, 584 P.2d at 687. "Respondents paid [the contractor] substantially all the amount due on the prime contract. Moreover, appellant could have protected himself by the exercise of his lien rights against the property. NRS 108.222. Under these circumstances, the enrichment, if any, resulting to respondents from appellant's labor and materials is not unjust." *Id.* Accordingly, this Court concluded that "[t]he district court correctly ruled **as a matter of law** that [the subcontractor] is not entitled to recover from [the owners]." *Id.* (emphasis added).

While the applicability of *Bowyer* is more pertinent to the discussions *infra*, *Bowyer* also demonstrates the overreaching nature of Korte's arguments. Again, as with *Snyder*, *Bowyer* demonstrates that even "if any" alleged enrichment results, it does not automatically follow that summary judgment is not appropriate, as Korte claims. AOB 10. Rather, a property owner, even if allegedly enriched by another's labor and materials, is entitled to judgment as a matter of law if the factual circumstances so warrant.<sup>5</sup> *Bowyer*, 94 Nev. at 720, 584 P.2d at 687.

Accordingly, *Snyder* and *Bowyer* unequivocally demonstrate that Korte's statements about *Leasepartners* are overly-broad. *Leasepartners* does not blindly bar summary judgment in all cases in which the defendant was not a party to the contract forming the basis for the relief sought by the plaintiff, as Korte suggests.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>6</sup>Korte also argues that "'Nevada public policy favors contractors' right to secure payment." AOB 11 n.1 (*quoting Lehrer McGovern Bovis, Inc. v. Bullock Insulatio, Inc.*, 124 Nev. 1102, 1116, 197 P. 3d 1032, 1041 (2008)). UNLV is not arguing that Korte does not have a right to secure payment for the work it has done under Nevada law. UNLV is pointing out that a claim for unjust enrichment against UNLV is not the appropriate avenue to secure such payment. Rather, the Bond that has been executed and recorded is the appropriate way to secure any payment that may be due to Korte.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In fact, multiple other jurisdictions have concluded that for a tenant's contractor to attach liability upon an owner of property under an unjust enrichment claim, the contractor must be able to show that the landlord has engaged in some form of improper, deceitful, or misleading conduct. See, e.g., DCB Construction Co., Inc. v. Central City Development Co., 965 P.2d 115, 122-23 (Colo.1998) (citing Restatement of Restitution § 110 (1937) and collecting cases). As explained in DCB, "[w]e all enjoy the protection that we are generally not liable for services or goods for which we did not contract. The courts should be slow to impose obligations in the absence of contract; slow to impose the debts of one party upon another." Id. at 121; see also Wang Elec., Inc. v. Smoke Tree Resort, LLC, 283 P.3d 45, 51 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2012); Hayes Mech., Inc. v. First Indus., L.P., 812 N.E.2d 419, 429 (Ill. Ct. App. 2004). Here, Korte has not even alleged, and certainly cannot establish, that UNLV has engaged in any improper, deceitful or misleading conduct-to the contrary, UNLV required UPA to post the Bond. Subjecting UNLV to liability under the facts of this case would improperly make UNLV "an insurer of the risk assumed by contractors in extending credit to tenants." DCB, 965 P.2d at 122.

Further, as will be discussed next, significant distinctions exist between *Leasepartners* and the present case which render the *Leasepartners* holding inapplicable here.

# b. <u>Korte's arguments disregard significant differences between this</u> case and *Leasepartners*.

Next, Korte disregards significant differences between this case and the facts upon which the *Leasepartners* holding was premised. *See* AOB 10-12. However, these distinctions readily support the District Court's ruling, and Korte's attempts to extend the *Leasepartners* outcome to the facts and circumstances of this case should be rejected.

Pertinent hereto, in *Leasepartners*, the Brooks Trust, who owned the Royal Hotel, leased the Royal Hotel to the Danzig Corporation ("Danzig"). 113 Nev. at 749, 942 P.2d at 183. During the lease term, Danzig determined that the signage at the hotel needed to be replaced, and therefore, Danzig entered into an equipment lease for electronic signage, which was financed by, and ultimately acquired by, LeasePartners. *Id.* at 751, 942 P.2d at 184. Brooks Trust testified to have neither known about nor approved the new signage. *Id.* at 750, 942 P.2d at 184. Danzig subsequently defaulted on its lease with the Brooks Trust, leading the Brooks Trust testified to the subsequent termination of the lease. *Id.* Importantly, until Danzig's default and the subsequent of the Royal Hotel and that the Brooks Trust owned the Royal Hotel. *Id.* at 751-52,

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